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STATE OF ILLINOIS

ILLINOIS COMMERCE COMMISSION

CBEYOND COMMUNICATIONS, LLC,

-vs-

ILLINOIS BELL TELEPHONE COMPANY,
D/B/A AT&T ILLINOIS

Formal Complaint pursuant to Sections 13-315
and 10-108 of the Illinois Public Utilities Act.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
/

Docket No. 11-0696

CBEYOND COMMUNICATIONS, LLC’S
APPLICATION FOR REHEARING

CBEYOND COMMUNICATIONS, LLC (“Cbeyond”), by and through its attorneys,

Clark Hill PLC, and pursuant to Section 10-113 of the Illinois Public Utilities Act, §220 Ill.

Comp. Stat. 5/10-113, and Part 200.880 of the Illinois Commerce Commission (“ICC” or

“Commission”) Rules, 83 Ill. Admin. Code 200.880, respectfully applies for rehearing of the

March 27, 2013 Order issued by the Commission in this proceeding.

I. INTRODUCTION

On October 24, 2012, Cbeyond filed a formal Complaint with Commission, in this

proceeding, against AT&T Illinois. Cbeyond amended its Complaint on May 1, 2012. Cbeyond

further amended its Complaint a second time on October 5, 2012. Cbeyond’s Second Amended

Verified Formal Complaint:

i. alleged that AT&T Illinois was misapplying the Unbundled Network Element
(“UNE”) rate it was required to charge under the TRO/TRRO Amendment by
charging an additional Clear Channel Capability non-recurring charge (“CCC
rate”) when Cbeyond ordered new telecommunications circuits;
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ii. alleged that AT&T Illinois was double billing Cbeyond for work it was
performing to provide new telecommunications circuits to Cbeyond;

iii. alleged that AT&T Illinois’ actions violated the Interconnection Agreement;

iv. alleged that AT&T Illinois’ actions violated the Federal Communications
Commission’s (“FCC”) unbundling rules and requirements contained in 47 C.F.R.
§51.319;

v. alleged that AT&T Illinois’ actions violated the unbundling requirements
contained in 47 U.S.C. §251(c)(3);

vi. alleged that AT&T Illinois’ actions violated Section 13-801 of the Illinois Public
Utilities Act, §220 Ill. Comp. Stat. 5/13-801; and,

vii. alleged that AT&T Illinois’ actions violated Section 13-514(10) of the Illinois
Public Utilities Act, §220 Ill. Comp. Stat. 5/13-514(10).

Cbeyond’s Verified Complaint, and Amended Complaints, contained proposed evidence

in the form of testimony received by this Commission on other dockets that supported Cbeyond’s

positions. However, Cbeyond was precluded from submitting any additional evidence, and was

precluded from establishing an evidentiary record, because this Commission dismissed this

proceeding on alleged procedural grounds.

On November 2, 2012, AT&T Illinois filed a Motion to Dismiss Cbeyond’s Second

Amended Verified Formal Complaint. On March 27, 2013, the Commission issued the subject

Order granting AT&T Illinois’ Motion to Dismiss.

In dismissing the Complaint, the Commission failed to hold an evidentiary hearing and

failed to make any findings of fact. Cbeyond believes Rehearing is warranted and appropriate

because, despite questions of fact, the Commission summarily dismissed the entirety of the

Complaint before making any factual determination that AT&T Illinois is (or is not) double-

recovering its costs in violation of the parties contract, Federal law, State law and/or the

Commission’s prior Orders.
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II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Cbeyond and AT&T Illinois have an Interconnection Agreement that governs the

purchase of telecommunications facilities and services from each other in the State of Illinois.

The Interconnection Agreement was approved by this Commission, pursuant to 47 U.S.C.

§ 252(e), in Commission Docket No. 04-0420, with six subsequent amendments. The

Interconnection Agreement states that that all services AT&T Illinois provides to Cbeyond – and

UNEs in particular – would be provided at Total Element Long Run Incremental Cost

(“TELRIC”) prices. In Commission Docket 02-0864, Illinois Bell Telephone Co., Filing to

increase Unbundled Loop and Nonrecurring Rates, the Commission established TELRIC pricing

for the various UNEs offered by AT&T Illinois.

Cbeyond purchases DS1 telecommunications circuits as part of a combination of UNEs

(Unbundled Network Elements) called either DS1/DS1 Enhanced Extended Loops (“EELs”) or

DS1/DS3 EELs from AT&T Illinois. The vast majority of the telecommunication circuits that

Cbeyond purchases from AT&T Illinois come with CCC and some do not. In its submitted Cost

Study in Commission Docket 02-0864, “per the Order in ICC Docket No. 02-0864 issued on

June 9, 2004, AT&T Illinois stated at Tab 1:

Clear Channel Capability (CCC) is a feature that provides the
customer an increased useable bandwidth of 1.536 Mbps from
1.344 Mbps of an unconstrained data stream across the network.
CCC is provided on 1.544 Mbps service and provisioning of CCC
in the Utility network requires the customer's signal at the channel
interface to conform to a bipolar, eight zero substitution (B8ZS)
line code format. If CCC is provisioned at the time that a DS1
service is provisioned coding can be done within the normal
provisioning activities that occur in the DS1, therefore there is no
additional CCC non-recurring charge. If however CCC is
provisioned on an existing DS1 service, a non-recurring charge
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does apply because additional activities are required to provision
CCC onto the existing DS1 line.1

In establishing rates such TELRIC Rates in Docket 02-0864, the Commission took

testimony of AT&T Illinois witnesses who testified that when CCC is requested at the time when

a circuit is installed, the CCC rate would not apply. In establishing rates such TELRIC Rates in

Docket 02-0864, the Commission included the charges for the installation of CCC in the relevant

installation charges for the applicable telecommunications circuits. In Docket 02-0864, the

Commission established TELRIC rates for both transport and line coding (clear channel). In

Docket 02-0864, the Commission established the rate for line coding (when provided alone) as

$70.32. In Docket 02-0864 the Commission established a non-recurring rate structure for

transport – a circuit connecting two wire centers (as opposed to a “loop” which is a circuit

connecting a wire center to an end-user customer).

Prior to the rates established in Docket 02-0864, Transport did not include the cost of line

coding for clear channel – it was charged separately. In Docket 02-0864, the Commission

included the $70.32 cost of line coding in the transport rate. The new transport rate established

in Docket 02-0864 was $70.32 higher because of the inclusion of line coding. As a consequence,

after the rates established in Docket 02-0864 became effective, if clear channel line coding was

ordered at the same time as new transport, there should not be an extra $70.32 charge for it. If

Cbeyond ordered a change in the line coding for an existing transport circuit, then that change

would cost $70.32. However, when Cbeyond purchases DS1 EELs (an “EEL” is a combination

of a “loop” and “transport”) from AT&T Illinois that are formatted with Clear Channel

1 ICC Docket No. 02-0864, AT&T Illinois Enhanced Extended Loop (EEL) New Combinations
Unbundled Network Element Final Order Non-Recurring Cost Study 2002-2005, June 14, 2004.,
tab 1, lines 14 and 46-53.



5

9037218.2 42239/161943

Capability, AT&T Illinois nevertheless bills Cbeyond for the CCC nonrecurring provisioning

charge. In other words, AT&T Illinois bills for work that was already performed – the

conditioning of circuits to perform CCC. It is a well-established violation of TELRIC pricing to

double-bill for providing a product.2 When Cbeyond purchases new DS1 circuits to be

connected to previously-installed DS1/DS3 EELs, AT&T Illinois bills Cbeyond for provisioning

CCC in those circuits. In its Second Amended Complaint Cbeyond disputed the legitimacy of

AT&T’s practice of charging for CCC for new circuits.

Cbeyond’s Second Amended Complaint alleged four counts. Count One of Cbeyond’s

Second Amended Complaint alleged that AT&T Illinois continues to misapply the CCC rate

despite having its error brought to its attention; a violation of Section 13-514 of the Illinois

2 In In re Access One, Inc., ICC Docket No. 05-0442, Nov. 2, 2005, the Commission found that
“TELRIC rates, including the relevant fill factors, already recover any costs associated with
placing and splicing cable to provision a CLEC with an unbundled loop. Accordingly, assessing
additional charges for placing and splicing cable in excess of Ameritech's current TELRIC rates
would constitute double recovery and is prohibited.” Citing, McLeod USA Telecommunications
Services, Inc. v. Illinois Bell Telephone Company , ICC Docket No. 99-0525, Dec. 20, 1999; see
also, Illinois Commerce Commission On Its Own Motion v. Illinois Bell Telephone Company,
Docket No. 99-0593, pgs. 18, 43 Aug. 15, 2000 (“Among the allegations made during this
investigation is that Ameritech is already recovering through the recurring rates that it charges
for UNEs the costs that it seeks to recover through special construction charges. Such double
recovery is not permissible.”; “The Commission concurs with Staff and finds that Ameritech's
costs associated with defective loop recovery are already recovered in the TELRIC rate. … Since
Ameritech may not provide unusable UNEs to CLECs, its costs for repairing defective loops has
been included in the TELRIC rate. Accordingly, Ameritech may not collect additional revenue
for defective loop recovery since such would constitute double recovery of costs already
reflected in TELRIC studies.”; “Ameritech claims that the ICC's holding that it may not recover
such costs through special construction charges runs headlong into the FCC's mandate allowing
recovery. Properly framed, however, the ICC's holding was not that Ameritech cannot recover its
“unbundling” costs, but only that it already does recover the costs through its standard monthly
TELRIC-based loop prices, and therefore, its assessment of special construction charges
constitutes a double recovery…Given that TELRIC rates recover Ameritech's investment in a
facility over the life of the facility, Ameritech's assessment of special construction charges for
such a COT/RT system would constitute double recovery.”); and, also see, Illinois Bell Tel. Co.
v. Wright, 245 F. Supp. 2d 900 (N.D. Ill. 2003).
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Public Utilities Act, §220 Ill. Comp. Stat. 5/13-514. Count Two of Cbeyond’s Second Amended

Complaint alleged that AT&T Illinois violates Section 13-801(g) of the Illinois Public Utilities

Act, §220 Ill. Comp. Stat. 5/13-801(g), by billing for services it is not providing or which are

already billed for in another rate. Count Two of Cbeyond’s Second Amended Complaint, by

reference to Section 13-801(g) of the Illinois Public Utilities Act, §220 Ill. Comp. Stat. 5/13-

801(g), also implies a violation of Federal law as State Commissions are required to establish,

and interconnected ILECs are required to charge forward-looking rates, using a methodology

such as TELRIC for UNEs pursuant to 47 C.F.R. §252(c) and 47 C.F.R.§§ 51.503, 51.505,

51.507, 51.509, and 51.511. Count Three of Cbeyond’s Second Amended Complaint requested

that the Commission investigate AT&T Illinois’ misapplication of the CCC rate as unjust,

unreasonable and discriminatory, pursuant to Section 9-250 of the Illinois Public Utilities Act,

§220 Ill. Comp. Stat. 5/9-250. And, Count Four of Cbeyond’s Second Amended Complaint

alleged a breach of the Parties Interconnection Agreement, including, but not limited to the

provisions of the TRO/TRRO Amendment requiring that DS1 transport, loops and EELs be

provided “in accordance” with 47 C.F.R. §51.319 et seq.; Article 9 requiring the provision of

UNEs at just and reasonable rates “in accordance” with the Act; and the ICC June 9 Order

Amendment incorporating the new UNE prices from the Commission’s June 9, 2004 Final Order

in ICC Docket No. 02-0864.

As Cbeyond pointed out in its Second Amended Complaint, at Paragraph 37, and in its

AT&T's misapplication of a UNE rate violates the fundamental obligation of AT&T Illinois to

charge lawful rates under Federal law, the Interconnection Agreement and Commission Orders,

including

a. Article 1 General Terms and Conditions, Section 1.55, Unbundled Network
Elements, Section 1.55.1, of the Interconnection Agreement provides “At the
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request of CLEC and pursuant to the requirements of the Act, SBC ILLINOIS
will offer in the geographic area where SBC ILLINOIS is the incumbent LEC
Network Elements to CLEC on an unbundled basis on rates, terms and
conditions set forth in this Agreement that are just reasonable, and non-
discriminatory. Specific Provisions concerning Unbundled Network Elements
are addressed in Article 9 and Schedules 9.2.1 through 9.5 and other
applicable Attachments.” Article 1, Section 1.55.1 is breached because
AT&T is charging more than the state-established TELRIC rate in ICC
Docket No. 02-0864 for the provisioning of DS1 loops, DS1 transport and
DS3 transport (in EELs and alone). Though the Act (47 USC 251(c)(3) and
252(d)) requires the provision of UNEs at TELRIC rates, the Commission
failed to examine such and AT&T failed to provide such.

b. Article 9, Access to Unbundled Network Elements – Section 251(c)(3), 9.1.1
of the Interconnection Agreement, which provides “SBC ILLINOIS shall
provide CLEC nondiscriminatory access to Unbundled Network Elements,
upon request, at any technically feasible point on just, reasonable and
nondiscriminatory rates, terms and conditions . . . in accordance with the
federal Telecommunications Act of 1996, applicable FCC orders, rules and
regulations and, applicable state statutes, orders, rules and regulations.”
Article 9, Section 9.1.1 is breached because AT&T is charging more than the
state-established TELRIC rate in ICC Docket No. 02-0864 for the
provisioning of DS1 loops, DS1 transport and DS3 transport (in EELs and
alone). The Act (47 USC 251(c)(3) and 252(d)) requires the provision of
UNEs at TELRIC rates. The Order in ICC Docket 02-0864 created DS1
transport rates which were inclusive of the circuit coding. Specifically, the
Commission-determined cost to establish the type of line coding (i.e., AMI or
B8ZS Clear Channel) on a DS1 circuit is included in the DS1 provisioning
nonrecurring charge contained in the Pricing Schedule of the Interconnection
Agreement. Charging the CCC rate for DS1 loops, DS3 transport or DS1
transport (when clear channel is ordered with the initial order) is counter to
the Order in ICC Docket 02-0864. The Commission failed to examine such.

c. Article 9, Section 9.3.3.4 and Section 9.7 of the Interconnection Agreement
both require that rates for UNEs and UNE combinations shall be charged
according to the Pricing Schedule. For the reasons following the ICC June 9,
2004 Order Amendment below, they are not.

d. ICC June 9, 2004 Order Amendment, Amending Pricing Schedule. The
Pricing Schedule referenced in Article 9, Sections 9.3.3.4 and Section 9.7 was
amended by the ICC June 9, 2004 Order Amendment, section 2.1.1, to
incorporate the rates from ICC Docket No. 02-0864. By charging a rate on
that Pricing Schedule which is not intended for the services for which it is
being billed, AT&T is not billing “according to the Pricing Schedule.” It
should be clear that if the parties adopt a rate specifically developed for a
particular service or activity, that it is their intention for that rate to apply as it
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was intended. It certainly should have been the intention of the Commission
that the rate (if adopted) be applied as it was intended.

e. Illinois TRO/TRRO Attachment. DS1 loops, DS1 dedicated transport and
DS3 transport are defined by reference to 47 C.F.R. §51.319 (DS1 loops at
Section 0.1.13 and dedicated DS1 and DS3 transport at Section 0.1.16 of the
TRO/TRRO Attachment). The federal regulation, 47 C.F.R. §51.319(e), used
to define “dedicated transport” includes: “An incumbent LEC shall provide a
requesting telecommunications carrier with nondiscriminatory access to
dedicated transport on an unbundled basis, in accordance with section
251(c)(3) of the Act and this part, . . .” Section 251(c)(3) of the Act requires
the provision of 251 UNEs at state-established TELRIC rates.

f. Similarly 47 C.F.R. §51.319(a) used to define loops provides, “An incumbent
LEC shall provide a requesting telecommunications carrier with
nondiscriminatory access to the local loop on an unbundled basis, in
accordance with section 251(c)(3) of the Act and this part . . .” AT&T’s
obligations to provide UNEs pursuant to 47 U.S.C. 251(c)(3) include the
obligation to provide them at TELRIC rates established by state commissions.
By charging more than the TELRIC rate established by the Commission for
provisioning DS1 transport and circuits, AT&T is in violation of that
obligation, as well as the ICC Order and Interconnection Agreement codifying
it.

g. DS1 loops, DS1 transport, DS3 transport and combinations of each are to be
provided on a non-discriminatory and unbundled basis (Section 3.1 and 3.1.2:
DS1 loops; Section 3.1.4: DS1 transport; Section 3.1.5: DS3 transport; EELs:
Sections 0.1.19, 6.1, 6.2 and 6.5). AT&T provides its retail customers
factional DS1 customers clear channel at no additional cost. Moreover, AT&T
charges CLECs who purchase DS1 transport with one type of line coding
(AMI) no additional charge, but charges carriers that request another type of
line coding (B8ZS clear channel), like Cbeyond, an additional charge for its
DS1 transport. To charge one carrier more than another carrier for the same
network element, when the provisioning rate includes the cost to establish the
type of line coding, whether it is AMI or B8ZS clear channel, is
discriminatory.

III. GROUNDS FOR REHEARING

REHEARING POINT 1: The Commission granted AT&T’s Motion to Dismiss without
an evidentiary hearing despite the fact that there was a factual
dispute in this proceeding.

The Commission, in its March 27, 2013 Order, stated, at page 10:

The fact that there is a binding contract between the parties in itself
should not be deemed an affirmative matter defeating Cbeyond’s
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claim. However, AT&T has asserted that the specific pricing in
Section 9.2.7.7.5 of the parties’ ICA sets forth the price for Clear
Channel Capability, which, it states was followed with respect to
the charges imposed upon Cbeyond. AT&T Reply at 14-15.
Cbeyond does not dispute the validity of this contract or the
applicability of this particular provision. Instead, Cbeyond asserts
that general provisions in the parties’ ICA determine the price of
Category 1 charges. See, Cbeyond Response at 20-21. However, it
is well-settled that when a contractual ambiguity exists, the more
specific provision governs over any general provisions. See, e.g.,
Nationwide Mutual Fire Ins. Co. v. T and N Master Builder and
Renovators, 2011 IL App (2d) 101143, 101153, 959 N.E. 2d 201;
Hubbard Street Lofts v. Inland Bank, 2011 IL App (1st ) 102640,
102651, 963 N.E.2d 262. While Cbeyond asserts that the more
general provisions were negotiated after the specific pricing
provisions that AT&T asserts, it cites no law establishing that this
specific pricing provision must not be applied here. See, e.g.,
Cbeyond Response at 20-21.

The Commission admits in its Order that a “factual ambiguity exists” regarding the

application of the Interconnection Agreement. Thus, the Commission was required to hold an

evidentiary hearing on that factual ambiguity. As noted in Section 2-619(c) of the Illinois Code

of Civil Procedure, §735 Ill. Comp. Stat. 5/2-619(2), “If a material and genuine disputed

question of fact is raised the court may decide the motion upon the affidavits and evidence

offered by the parties, or may deny the motion without prejudice to the right to raise the subject

matter of the motion by answer . . .” Here, clearly, “material and genuine disputed question[s] of

fact” were raised by Cbeyond. For example, Cbeyond alleged facts that AT&T Illinois was

overbilling, in contravention of a Commission Order, Illinois Law, Federal Law, and the

Interconnection Agreement. Yet, in direct contravention of Section 2-619(c) of the Illinois Code

of Civil Procedure, §735 Ill. Comp. Stat. 5/2-619(2), the Commission found in its Order that

such ambiguity in the interconnection Agreement does not lead to a question of fact that should

have been the subject of an evidentiary hearing.
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REHEARING POINT 2: The Commission improperly granted AT&T’s Motion to
Dismiss.

On November 2, 2012, AT&T Illinois filed a Motion to Dismiss Cbeyond’s Second

Amended Verified Formal Complaint. AT&T Illinois Motion to Dismiss was brought pursuant

to sections 2-615, 2-619 and 2-619.1 of the Illinois Code of Civil Procedure. A Section 2-619

motion requires that if the grounds for such a motion “do not appear on the face of the pleading

attacked, such motion shall be supported by affidavit.” §735 Ill. Comp. Stat. 5/2-619(a).

AT&T’s Motion expressly stated that “Cbeyond’s Complaint does not address the only

ICA provisions that are relevant . . .,”3 clearly raising facts that do not appear on the face of

Cbeyond’s Second Amended Complaint. AT&T Illinois did not attach the affidavit required

under Section 2-619(a). §735 Ill. Comp. Stat. 5/2-619(a). The Commission, in issuing its March

27, 2013 Order granted AT&T Illinois’ Motion to Dismiss.

Despite well-established law that a cause of action should not be dismissed on the

pleadings unless it clearly appears that no set of facts can be proved which will entitle the

plaintiff to recover, Burdinie v. Village of Glendale Heights, 139 Ill. 2d 501, 504, 565 N.E.2d

654 (1990), the Commission, without evidentiary hearing, in its March 27, 2013 Order found

“Cbeyond Communications, LLC, has either not set forth facts establishing that it has a cause of

action with regard to certain claims, or, it has not overcome AT&T’s showing that affirmative

defenses bar assertion of certain claims. Rather than acknowledging this legal deficiency, the

Commission stated, in a footnote to its order, that an affidavit would not have helped Cbeyond.4

3 Motion, p. 23.

4 Order, fn. 3.
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REHEARING POINT 3: The finding that Cbeyond collaterally attacking the
Commission’s Order in ICC Docket No. 10-0188 is factually
and legally incorrect.

The Commission’s Order states at Page 8:

Cbeyond contends that it is not attacking the final Order in Docket
10-0188. Response at 13. However, the fact that this Commission
must now review that Order due to the arguments that Cbeyond
raises is indicia that Cbeyond is attacking that Order. Additionally,
the fact that Cbeyond now asserts the due process notion that the
final Order in that Docket was not sufficient regarding Cbeyond’s
Category 1 issue is also indicia that Cbeyond is indeed attacking
that Order.

In 2010, Cbeyond litigated a different issue regarding CCC in ICC Docket No. 10-0188.

Docket No. 10-0188 was primarily about AT&T Charging for the provisioning of a loop in the

context of a rearrangement of an EEL (rearranging an EEL involves ordering new transport to

replace the existing transport in loop-transport combination). In Docket No. 10-0188, Cbeyond

argued that because the loop never changes, Cbeyond should not have to pay for a new loop

when it ordered new transport to be combined with the old loop. In Docket No. 10-0188,

Cbeyond also included an allegation that AT&T Illinois should not be billing for CCC for the

rearranged EEL. In its Order in Docket No. 10-0188 the Commission ruled against Cbeyond and

found that Cbeyond needed to pay for the re-used loop as if it were new.

However, the Commission in Docket No. 10-0188 did not specifically address the issue

of whether the CCC rate was or was not included in the transport rate element, or whether the

parties’ Interconnection Agreement does or does not allow AT&T Illinois to charge CCC rate in

addition to transport issue. The issues raised in the instant proceeding are new issues raised for

the first time in the instant proceeding.

Cbeyond did raise a portion of the billing dispute contained in Cbeyond’s Second

Amended Complaint in the instant proceeding in Docket No. 10-0188. However, the
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Commission made no findings of fact or conclusions of law regarding that billing dispute in

Docket No. 10-0188. Further, a large portion, and many of the issues contained, in the billing

dispute raised in the instant proceeding could not have possibly been raised in Docket No. 10-

0188 because:

i. It was not ripe at that time under the Parties’ Interconnection Agreement; and,

ii. It involved the ordering of new transport circuits – rather than the rearrangement
of existing circuits, as was the subject of Docket No. 10-0188.

Because the issues are similar, Cbeyond concedes that the Commission may have to

consider and review its Order in 10-0188, but because the issued raised in Cbeyond’s Second

Amended Complaint in the instant proceeding were not, and as noted above, could not possibly

have been, raised in Docket No. 10-0188, they cannot be a collateral attack on the Commission’s

prior orders.

REHEARING POINT 4: The Commission’s failure to examine the allegations Cbeyond
raised regarding AT&T Illinois application of rates in the
Interconnection Agreement violates the Commission’s
required duties under 47 U.S.C. § 252(e).

This Commission is required to reject or approve an Interconnection Agreement adopted

by Arbitration, as was the TRO/TRRO Amendment, if, among other things, “it finds that the

agreement does not meet the requirements of section 251 [47 U.S.C. § 251], including the

regulations prescribed by the Commission pursuant to section 251 [47 U.S.C. § 251], or the

standards set forth in subsection (d) of this section.” 47 U.S.C. § 252(e). Yet, in issuing its

March 27, 2013 Order, the Commission never held an evidentiary hearing to examine factual

disputes regarding the legality of the way AT&T Illinois was interpreting and implementing the

Interconnection Agreement with respect to the provision and billing of CCC. Despite the

obligations the Act places on the Commission in 47 U.S.C. § 252, the Commission improperly

found, at page 10, that “the Parties Interconnection Agreement controls the billing question, not
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State or Federal law.” In doing so, the Commission ignored the factual disputes regarding the

interpretation of the Interconnection Agreement.

REHEARING POINT 5: The Commission failed to examine if AT&T Illinois was in
breach of the Parties Interconnection Agreement and the
applicable provisions of the FCC’s TRO and TRRO and 47
C.F.R. § 51.319 et seq.

As described above, AT&T Illinois’ misapplication of the CCC rate is a breach of the

parties’ Interconnection Agreement, including but not limited to the provisions of the

TRO/TRRO Amendment requiring that DS1 transport, loops and EELs be provided “in

accordance” with 47 C.F.R. §51.319 et seq.; Article 9 requiring the provision of UNEs at just

and reasonable rates “in accordance” with the federal Telecommunications Act of 1996; and the

ICC June 9 Order Amendment incorporating the new UNE prices from ICC Docket No. 02-

0864. The option to order CCC pursuant to the Interconnection Agreement is not a breach of the

Interconnection Agreement because that is the proper application of the CCC rate as it was

developed in ICC Docket No. 02-0864. However, the Commission failed to examine, on a

factual basis and through a evidentiary hearing, AT&T Illinois’ alleged breach of the

Interconnection Agreement and the applicable provisions of the FCC’s TRO and TRRO and 47

C.F.R. § 51.319 et seq.

REHEARING POINT 6: The Commission failed to examine if AT&T Illinois actions
violate Section 13-514 of the Illinois Public Utilities Act

CBeyond brought forth allegations in its Second Amended Complaint that AT&T Illinois

knowingly continues to misapply the CCC rate despite having had its error brought to its

attention by Cbeyond. At a minimum, AT&T Illinois’ refusal to correct its manifestly incorrect

billing and misapplication of the CCC rate is unreasonable. The “manner” in which all UNEs

are to be provided under orders of the Commission and the FCC is pursuant to TELRIC pricing.

AT&T’s application of the CCC rate to new DS1 circuits contravenes TELRIC pricing. By
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unreasonably failing to offer network elements that the Commission and the FCC have

determined must be offered on an unbundled basis in a manner consistent with the Commission's

or FCC’s orders or rules requiring such offerings, AT&T Illinois is in violation of Section 13-

514(10) of the Public Utilities Act, §220 Ill. Comp. Stat. 5/13-514(10). As a direct result of the

foregoing violations of Section 13-514(10) of the Public Utilities Act, §220 Ill. Comp. Stat. 5/13-

514(10), Cbeyond has suffered, and will continue to suffer direct, proximate and consequential

damages. The Commission, in issuing its March 27, 2013 Order, failed to create an evidentiary

record of whether or not AT&T Illinois knowingly continues to misapply the CCC rate.

REHEARING POINT 7: The Commission failed to examine whether or not AT&T
Illinois’ Actions violate Section 13-801 of the Illinois Public
Utilities Act

Section 13-801(g) of the Illinois Public Utilities Act requires that “Interconnection,

collocation, network elements, and operations support systems shall be provided by the

incumbent local exchange carrier to requesting telecommunications carriers at cost based rates . .

.” §220 Ill. Comp. Stat. 5/13-801(g). Cbeyond alleged in its Second Amended Complaint that

AT&T Illinois’s misapplication of the CCC rate results in it being double-compensated for seven

activities it does only once. By billing for services it is not providing, AT&T Illinois violates

Section 13-801(g) of the Illinois Public Utilities Act, §220 Ill. Comp. Stat. 5/13-801(g). As a

direct result of AT&T Illinois’ violation of Section 13-801(g) of the Illinois Public Utilities Act,

§220 Ill. Comp. Stat. 5/13-801(g), Cbeyond has suffered and will continue to suffer direct,

proximate, and consequential damages. The Commission’s failed to hold an evidentiary hearing

and failed to fully examine the factual dispute of whether or not AT&T Illinois was double

compensated for services.
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REHEARING POINT 8: The Commission failed to examine whether or not AT&T
Illinois’ Actions violate 47 C.F.R. §252(c) and FCC Rules and
Regulations.

This Commission is required to establish forward-looking rates, using a methodology

such as TELRIC for UNEs pursuant to 47 C.F.R. §252(c) and 47 C.F.R.§§ 51.503, 51.505,

51.507, 51.509, and 51.511. It is a well-established violation of TELRIC pricing to double-bill

for providing a product. Cbeyond alleged in its Second Amended Complaint that AT&T

Illinois’s misapplication of the CCC rate results in it being double-compensated for seven

activities it does only once. By billing for services it is not providing, AT&T Illinois violates the

FCC’s methodology for establishing and charging TELRIC for UNEs pursuant to 47 C.F.R.

§252(c) and 47 C.F.R.§§ 51.503, 51.505, 51.507, 51.509, and 51.511. As a direct result of

AT&T Illinois’ violation of the FCC’s methodology for establishing and charging TELRIC for

UNEs pursuant to 47 C.F.R. §252(c) and 47 C.F.R.§§ 51.503, 51.505, 51.507, 51.509, and 51.51,

Cbeyond has suffered and will continue to suffer direct, proximate and consequential damages.

The Commission’s failed to hold an evidentiary hearing and failed to fully examine the factual

dispute of whether or not AT&T Illinois was double compensated for services.

REHEARING POINT 9: The Commission failed to conduct an investigation pursuant to
Section 9-250 of the Illinois Public Utilities Act.

Section 9-250 of the Illinois Public Utilities Act provides that when “[t]he Commission

shall have power . . . to investigate a single rate or other charge, classification, rule, regulation,

contract or practice, or any number thereof, or the entire schedule or schedules of rates or other

charges, classifications, rules, regulations, contracts and practices, or any thereof of any public

utility, and to establish new rates or other charges, classifications, rules, regulations, contracts or

practices or schedule or schedules, in lieu thereof.” §220 Ill. Comp. Stat. 5/9-250. The

Commission had the authority to investigate the nonrecurring rates, charges, classifications,
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rules, regulations, contract and practice associated with AT&T Illinois’ application of the CCC

rate. The Commission had the authority to investigate the fact that despite its application of the

CCC rate to Cbeyond, AT&T Illinois does not bill its retail fractional DS1 customers for clear

channel in Illinois.

Cbeyond alleged, in its Second Amended Complaint, that AT&T Illinois’ misapplication

of the CCC rate is unjust, unreasonable and discriminatory. It cannot be disputed that this

Commission was authorized to investigate AT&T Illinois’s rates, charges and practices, and

impose rates, charges and practices that are just and reasonable. The Commission failed to

conduct such an investigation. The Commission’s failure to conduct such an investigation was

arbitrary and capricious.

IV. CONCLUSION

For the reasons discussed above, Cbeyond Communications, LLC respectfully prays that

this Honorable Commission enter an Order on Rehearing remanding this proceeding to the

Administrative Law Judge for an evidentiary hearing and following such evidentiary hearing find

and order as follows:

A. Find that AT&T Illinois breached the Parties’ Interconnection Agreement and the

applicable provisions of the FCC’s TRO and TRRO and 47 C.F.R. § 51.319 et seq.;

B. Find that AT&T Illinois is in violation of Section 13-514(10) of the Public Utilities Act,

§220 Ill. Comp. Stat. 5/13-514(10);

C. Find that AT&T Illinois is in violation of Section 13-801 of the Illinois Public Utilities

Act, §220 Ill. Comp. Stat. 5/13-801;

D. Find that AT&T Illinois’ is in violation of 47 C.F.R. §252(c) and FCC Rules and

Regulations;
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E. Order a full investigation of AT&T Illinois’ actions pursuant to Section 9-250 of the

Illinois Public Utilities Act, §220 Ill. Comp. Stat. 5/9-250;

F. Order AT&T Illinois to cease and desist from breaching the Parties’ Interconnection

Agreement and the applicable provisions of the FCC’s TRO and TRRO and 47 C.F.R.

§ 51.319 et seq.;

G. Order AT&T Illinois to cease and desist from violating Section 13-514(10) of the Public

Utilities Act, §220 Ill. Comp. Stat. 5/13-514(10);

H. Order AT&T Illinois to cease and desist from violating Section 13-801 of the Illinois

Public Utilities Act, §220 Ill. Comp. Stat. 5/13-801;

I. Order AT&T Illinois to cease and desist from violating 47 C.F.R. §252(c) and FCC Rules

and Regulations;

J. Order AT&T Illinois to credit Cbeyond for misapplied CCC rates for such time periods

as are appropriate under the parties’ Interconnection Agreement;

K. Order Illinois Bell to pay to Cbeyond an amount equal to its damages pursuant to Section

13-516(a)(3) of the Illinois Public Utilities Act, §220 Ill. Comp. Stat. 5/13-516(a)(3);;

L. Order AT&T Illinois to pay penalties of up to $30,000 or 0.00825% of the

telecommunications carrier's gross intrastate annual telecommunications revenue,

whichever is greater, per violation pursuant to Section 13-516(a)(2) of the Illinois Public

Utilities Act, §220 Ill. Comp. Stat. 5/13-516(a)(2), and,
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M. Grants Cbeyond such further relief as the Commission deems just and proper.

Respectfully Submitted,

By: /s/ Haran C. Rashes By: /s/ Richard H. Chapman
Roderick S. Coy
Haran C. Rashes
CLARK HILL PLC
212 East Grand River Avenue
Lansing, Michigan 48906
(517) 318-3100
(517) 318-3099 Fax
E-Mail: rcoy@clarkhill.com

hrashes@clarkhill.com

Charles E. (Gene) Watkins
Cbeyond Communications, LLC
Deputy General Counsel
320 Interstate North Parkway, SE
Atlanta, GA 30339
(303) 261-3630
E-Mail: gene.watkins@cbeyond.net

Richard H. Chapman
CLARK HILL PLC
150 N. Michigan Ave, Suite 2700
Chicago, Illinois 60601
(312) 985-5904
(312) 985-5968 Fax
E-Mail: rchapman@clarkhill.com

Date: April 29, 2013
Attorneys for:
Cbeyond Communications, LLC
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STATE OF ILLINOIS

ILLINOIS COMMERCE COMMISSION

CBEYOND COMMUNICATIONS, LLC,

-vs-

ILLINOIS BELL TELEPHONE COMPANY,
D/B/A AT&T ILLINOIS

Formal Complaint pursuant to Sections 13-315
and 10-108 of the Illinois Public Utilities Act.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
/

Docket No. 11-0696

NOTICE OF FILING

To: Parties of Record

You are hereby notified that this 29th day of April, 2013, I filed, via the electronic
e-docket system, with the Chief Clerk of the Illinois Commerce Commission, on behalf of
Cbeyond Communications, LLC, an Application for Rehearing, in the above-captioned docket.

Respectfully Submitted,

By: /s/ Haran C. Rashes

Dated: April 29, 2013

Haran C. Rashes
CLARK HILL PLC
212 East Grand River Avenue
Lansing, Michigan 48906
(517) 318-3100
(517) 318-3099 Fax
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STATE OF ILLINOIS

ILLINOIS COMMERCE COMMISSION

CBEYOND COMMUNICATIONS, LLC,

-vs-

ILLINOIS BELL TELEPHONE COMPANY,
D/B/A AT&T ILLINOIS

Formal Complaint pursuant to Sections 13-315
and 10-108 of the Illinois Public Utilities Act.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
/

Docket No. 11-0696

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

To: Parties of Record

I hereby certify that copies Cbeyond Communications, LLC’s Application for Rehearing,
in the above-captioned docket, were served upon the parties on the attached service list via
Electronic Mail and United States Postal Service First Class Mail on April 29, 2013.

Respectfully Submitted,

By: /s/ Haran C. Rashes

Dated: April 29, 2013

Haran C. Rashes
CLARK HILL PLC
212 East Grand River Avenue
Lansing, Michigan 48906
(517) 318-3100
(517) 318-3099 Fax
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SERVICE LIST
DOCKET NO. 11-0696

Administrative Law Judge

Hon. Claudia Sainsot
Administrative Law Judge
Illinois Commerce Commission
160 N. LaSalle St., Ste. C-800
Chicago, IL 60601-3104

E-Mail: csainsot@icc.illinois.gov

Illinois Commerce Commission Staff

Michael J. Lannon
Jessica L. Cardoni
Office of General Counsel
Illinois Commerce Commission
160 N. LaSalle St., Ste. C-800
Chicago, IL 60601

E-Mail: mlannon@icc.illinois.gov
jcardoni@icc.illinois.gov

AT&T Illinois

Michael T. Sullivan
Nissa J. Imbrock
Mayer Brown LLP
71 S. Wacker Dr.
Chicago, IL 60606

James Huttenhower
Illinois Bell Telephone Company
225 W. Randolph St., Ste. 25D
Chicago, IL 60606

E-Mail: msullivan@mayerbrown.com
nimbrock@mayerbrown.com
jh7452@att.com

Cbeyond Communications, LLC

Richard H. Chapman
CLARK HILL PLC
150 N. Michigan Ave, Suite 2700
Chicago, IL 60601

Roderick S. Coy
Haran C. Rashes
CLARK HILL PLC
212 East Grand River Avenue
Lansing, MI 48906

Charles E. (Gene) Watkins
Cbeyond Communications, LLC
Deputy General Counsel
320 Interstate North Parkway, SE
Atlanta, GA 30339

E-Mail: rchapman@clarkhill.com
rcoy@clarkhill.com
hrashes@clarkhill.com
gene.watkins@cbeyond.net

Henry T. Kelly
Michael Dover
Kelley Drye & Warren LLP
333 W. Wacker Dr.
Chicago, IL 60606

E-Mail: hkelly@kelleydrye.com
mdover@kelleydrye.com


